FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON NOVEMBER 22, 2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 85092-0-I

(King County Superior Court No. 22-2-15958-8 S)

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/28/2024 8:00 AM

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Case #: 1036370

KURT BENSHOOF.

Appellant-Plaintiff,

V.

NATHAN CLIBER, JESSICA OWEN, MAGALIE LERMAN, OWEN HERMSEN

Appellees- Defendants,

AMENDED NOTICE OF APPEAL

11-25-24:
Treated as a
petition for review.
Supreme Court
Clerk's Office

Pro Se Appellant Kurt Benshoof CURRENTLY HELD AT:

King County Correctional Facility – Seattle B/A 2024-008067, UCN# 10518097, South Eight, Lover Bravo, 500 Fifth Ave., Seattle, WA 98104 Appellant KURT BENSHOOF, hereby notifies the court of his intent to file a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court of the following orders issued by the COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON:

- August 26, 2024, "DIVISION ONE UNPUBLISHED OPINION" which denied Appellant's appeal of trial court Order in the Case No. 85092-0-I (Appeal of King County Superior Court No. 22-2-15958-8 S). See attached EXHIBIT A
- 2. September 26, 2024, Judge Ian Birk issued an "ORDER DENYING MOTION TO PUBLISH AND DENYING MOTION TO STAY" See attached EXHIBIT B
- 3. October 3, 2024, Judge Ian Birk issued an "ORDER DENYING EMERGENCY REQUEST TO STAY" without any guidance for the Appellant to be able to correct any perceived issues with his request to stay, the Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law. See attached EXHIBIT C
- 4. October 3, 2024, COMMISSIONER'S RULING AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS, See attached EXHIBIT D

Appellant/Plaintiff Benshoof is currently incarcerated and held in King County Correctional Facility – Seattle, since July 3, 2024, without ability for bail, in violation of Eighth Amendment.

Appellant is being held incommunicado, with no access to pen, paper, nor envelopes. Appellant's legal mail is being withheld and unreasonably delayed.

Appellant/Plaintiff has **newly discovered** evidence **CR 60 (B) (3) (4) (11)** which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time, **there is evidence of fraud** and misrepresentation that has come to light. The newly discovered evidence is not addressed in this current motion because Appellant needs extension of time to file proper motion for reconsideration, for reasons stated below.

Pro se appellant is currently unable to file the 60 (B) (3) (4) (11) due to CR 60 (B) (9). If motion for reconsideration is not granted or is denied, Appellant has hereby notified the court of his intent to file a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court.

Appellant Kurt A. Benshoof, hereby declares that the foregoing facts are true and correct to the best of his knowledge, under penalty of perjury of the laws of the United States.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Kurt Benshoof, Plaintiff pro se

1716 N 128th Street Seattle, WA 98133

King County Correctional Facility – Seattle¹ B/A 2024-008067, UCN# 10518097

B/A 2024-008067, UCN# 10518097 500 Fifth Ave., Seattle, WA 98104 East - Lower B - 9th Floor - Cell #6

Email: <u>kurtbenshoof1@gmail.com</u> [no access to internet/email]

The foregoing statements of fact were typed up by the undersigned, upon Mr. Kurt Benshoof's request and to the best of the undersigned's understanding.²

Signature:

Date:

/URVE MAGGITAT / urve.maggitti@gmail.com

¹ Subject to change without notice, mail delivery [send/receive] not guaranteed.

² See Faretta v. California and Section 35 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 1 Stat. 73, 92

AFFIDAVIT

The foregoing were typed up by the undersigned, upon Mr. Benshoof's request and to the best of the undersigned's understanding.³

Federal and State Constitutions require that criminal prosecutions conform to prevailing notions of fundamental fairness and that criminal defendants be given a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. State v. Wittenbarger, 124 Wn. 2d 467, 474-75, 880 P.2d 517 (1994).

Mr. Benshoof is being held incommunicado without access to pen, paper and envelopes. Appellant's legal mail is deliberately obstructed and unreasonably delayed. Mr. Benshoof has the first amendment right to access all court and to litigate/prosecute his case(s) without any obstruction by the state, the justice system nor the court's.

In 1975 in Faretta v. California, United States Supreme Court acknowledges an established historical fact: "Section 35 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 1 Stat. 73, 92, enacted by the First Congress and signed by President Washington one day before the Sixth Amendment *813 was proposed, provided that 'in all the courts of the United States, the parties may plead and manage their own causes personally or by the assistance of such counsel 'The right is currently codified in 28 U.S.C. s 1654."4

The Court quoted from Section 35 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 1 Stat. 73, 92 which states as follows:

"SEC. 35. And be it further enacted, That in all courts of the United States, the parties may plead and manage their own causes personally or by assistance of such counsel or attorneys at law" 5

Judiciary Act of 1789 was passed before ratification of the Sixth Amendment in the Bill of Rights in 1791. The drafters of the Sixth Amendment had deliberately removed the word attorneys at law from the Sixth Amendment, and substantially amended the language to read: "right to have the Assistance of Counsel."

Signature:

Date: 0606 25 2024

See Faretta v. California and Section 35 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 1 Stat. 73, 92
 Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 812–13, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 2530, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975)

⁵ "The Judiciary Act; September 24, 1789, 1 Stat. 73. An Act to Establish the Judicial Courts of the United States." "APPROVED, September 24, 1789." https://avalon.law.yale.edu/18th century/judiciary act.asp

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Blair M. Russ, WSBA #40374 Paige V. Gagliardi, WSBA #60816

Tomlinson Bomsztyk Russ 1000 Second Ave, Suite 3660 Seattle, WA 98104- 1046 Phone: (206) 621-1871 bmr@tbr-law.com pvg@tbr-law.com

Sarah N. Turner, WSBA #37748
Michael C. Tracy, WSBA # 51227
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2100
Seattle, Washington 98104-5017
(206) 695-5100
sturner@gsrm.com
mtracy@gsrm.com

Moshe Y. Admon, WSBA #50235 300 Lenora Street, Suite 4008 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 739-8383 jeff@admonlaw.com

One Union Square 600 University St Seattle, WA 98101-1176 206-464-7750

Kurt Benshoof, Plaintiff pro se
1716 N 128th Street
Seattle, WA 98133
King County Correctional Facility – Seattle
B/A 2024-008067, UCN# 10518097
500 Fifth Ave., Seattle, WA 98104
South Eight, Lover Bravo
Email: kurtbenshoof@gmail.com [no access to internet/email]

Urve Maggitti, "next friend" and "assistance of counsel" ⁶ to Mr. Kurt Benshoof under as per

⁶ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 812–13, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 2530, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975) "The Judiciary Act; September 24, 1789, 1 Stat. 73. An Act to Establish the Judicial Courts of the United

EXHIBIT A

FILED 8/26/2024 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KURT BENSHOOF,

Appellant,

٧.

NATHAN CLIBER, JESSICA OWEN, MAGALIE LERMAN, OWEN HERMSEN,

Respondents.

No. 85092-0-I

DIVISION ONE

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

BIRK, J. — Kurt Benshoof appeals the trial court's orders dismissing his claims under the Uniform Public Expression Protection Act (UPEPA or the Act), chapter 4.105 RCW, and CR 12(b)(6), finding that he was a vexatious litigant, and restraining future court filings accordingly. We affirm the trial court's orders and grant the respondents' request for attorney fees on appeal.

1

Benshoof and his former intimate partner Jessica Owen share a child in common. On September 23, 2021, Owen, represented by attorney Nathan Cliber, initiated a parentage action against Benshoof. On October 21, 2022, King County Superior Court Judge David Keenan entered final orders and awarded Owen sole residential care and decision-making authority for their child.

Between March and October 2022, Benshoof filed at least seven lawsuits against Owen, and dozens of others, in state and federal courts:

On March 1, 2022, Benshoof filed a complaint against Owen, arguing she "converted his Toyota FJ Cruiser," which was titled in Owen's name.¹

On March 16, 2022, Benshoof filed a complaint against Owen alleging claims of constructive fraud and intentional infliction of emotional distress relating to a previously shared residence that was titled in Owen's name.²

On July 18, 2022, Benshoof filed an 85 page petition for writ of habeas corpus and named as respondents Cliber, Judge Keenan, King County Superior Court Commissioner Jason Holloway, Owen, and Magalie Lerman, Owen's current partner.³

On August 2, 2022, Benshoof attempted to obtain an antiharassment protection order against Cliber based on Cliber's representation of Owen in the parentage action.⁴

On September 9, 2022, Benshoof filed a 295 page complaint in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington. Benshoof filed a litany of allegations against dozens of individuals, including the respondents in this action, multiple current and former King County Superior Court judges, former

¹ After Owen voluntarily transferred title to Benshoof, the complaint was dismissed.

² This complaint led to dismissal of Benshoof's claims, and entry of judgment in favor of Owen on her counterclaims, as described in our opinion of even date in matter number 85465-8-I. As described in that opinion, on September 28, 2022, Benshoof filed a new complaint asserting the same claims he had asserted in his March 16, 2022 complaint, and this record reflects the consolidation of the latter filing with the earlier one. CP 480-82.

³ The writ was denied three days after the petition was filed and the case was dismissed.

⁴ The trial court denied Benshoof's request.

federal official Anthony Fauci MD, Washington Governor Jay Inslee, and a grocery store in North Seattle, among others.⁵

On September 29, 2022, Benshoof filed an action in King County Superior Court "which was nothing short of a re-filing on the exact same claims" previously dismissed by the United States District Court.

On October 3, 2022, Benshoof filed a complaint against Cliber, Owen, and Lerman for "money damages resulting from Defamation or Abuse of Process." 6

The last listed filing underlies this appeal. Benshoof amended his complaint on October 11, 2022, adding Owen's friend Owen Hermsen as a defendant. Benshoof alleged abuse of process against Owen and Cliber arising from their participation in the parentage action, defamation against Owen and Lerman based on their statements to law enforcement, and "coercion" against Owen and Hermsen related to their alleged refusal to return the Toyota FJ Cruiser to Benshoof.

In response to the October lawsuit, Owen on November 22, 2022, sent Benshoof written notice of her intent to file a special motion under UPEPA. On December 2, 2022, Cliber sent his written notice of intent to file a special motion under UPEPA. Benshoof filed a response and motion for limited discovery, seeking to depose Owen and Cliber as to their communications relating to the

⁵ The district court dismissed Benshoof's complaint sua sponte.

⁶ These seven lawsuits are the ones evidenced in the record on this appeal. The respondents assert that Benshoof filed more lawsuits against Owen after the time period covered by our record.

various claims. Benshoof did not note the motion for consideration in accordance with King County Superior Court Local Civil Rule (KCLCR) 7(b)(5).

On December 12, 2022, Cliber filed a special motion for expedited relief, arguing "Benshoof's complaint lacks merit in its entirety and should be dismissed pursuant to the protections provided by [UPEPA]." On the same day, Owen filed a special motion for expedited relief under UPEPA and requested "entry of a vexatious litigant order against [Benshoof] restricting him from continuing to file duplicative and nonsensical claims against her, her friends, and her attorneys." On January 10, 2023, Lerman and Hermsen filed a "joinder" in Owen's special motion for expedited relief. Benshoof filed a "response" to the "joinder" and requested discovery to "ensure a full rebuttal of opposing counsels' claims of litigation privilege."

On January 13, 2023, Benshoof filed a motion for leave to amend his first amended complaint. Benshoof did not note his motion to amend in accordance with KCLCR 7(b)(5). On January 18, 2023, Benshoof filed a motion to compel discovery from all defendants, a motion to stay Owen's and Cliber's special motions, and a motion to continue, all of which were not noted in accordance with KCLCR 7(b)(5).

Owen's and Cliber's motions under UPEPA were heard on January 27, 2023. By order dated February 2, 2023, the trial court granted Lerman and Hermsen's joinder and granted Owen and Cliber's special motion for expedited relief. The trial court dismissed Benshoof's abuse of process and defamation claims under UPEPA, and dismissed the coercion claim under CR 12(b)(6), having

ruled orally that "coercion is not a cognizable civil claim in Washington." The trial court ordered Benshoof to pay the mandatory award of all defendants' court costs and attorney fees, and ordered Benshoof to pay Owen, Lerman, and Hermsen \$10,000.00 each in statutory damages. The trial court denied Owen's request for a vexatious litigant order against Benshoof because "Benshoof would need to have an opportunity to more fully respond to that request."

On February 17, 2023, the defendants filed a joint motion for a vexatious litigant order against Benshoof. The trial court granted the defendants' joint motion, ruled that Benshoof was a vexatious litigant, and ordered a temporary restriction on Benshoof's litigation. On March 31, 2023, the temporary restriction was superseded by a subsequent order restricting abusive litigation. The trial court ordered that Benshoof was enjoined and restrained from

initiating any litigation whatsoever in any Superior Court in the state of Washington against Defendants, their attorneys, their friends and family, or any other person related or connected to Defendants (collectively, "Persons Covered by This Order") <u>unless</u> [Benshoof] first obtains advanced approval from this Court

2. To obtain advance approval from this Court, [Benshoof] shall submit an application to the undersigned Judge/Department 31 in the form of a one-page document.... The Court may, at its discretion, request a response from Persons Covered by This Order before ruling on [Benshoof's] application.

. . . .

4. If [Benshoof] seeks to commence a new action against Persons Covered by This Order in a court other than a Superior Court, [Benshoof] must first bring a motion in the other court for leave to proceed with the action. The motion must be filed contemporaneous to the filing of the complaint or petition. The motion for leave must demonstrate that good cause exists to permit the action to proceed given the claims raised in the new complaint

and [Benshoof's] past litigation abuses. If the reviewing court finds good cause has not been show[n] for the action to proceed, it may dismiss the action with prejudice. If the reviewing court determines that sanctions are warranted, it may impose sanctions at the same time the action is dismissed. [Benshoof] shall have an opportunity to explain in writing why sanctions should not be imposed in a post-dismissal motion for reconsideration within ten (10) days of the dismissal.

- 5. [Benshoof] shall submit a copy of this Order with any future lawsuit he files or attempts to file in <u>any</u> court, including (but not limited to) any federal court.
- 6. If [Benshoof] fails to abide by the terms of this Order, any party may move, or the Court *sua sponte* may move, for a finding of contempt and sanctions. A contempt finding could result in the imposition of jail time as a sanction.

The trial court ordered the restraint in effect for the next five years. Benshoof appeals.

II

Benshoof argues the trial court erred in finding his claims violated UPEPA, asserting one of his claims falls within a UPEPA exception. We disagree.

The legislature passed UPEPA to safeguard traditional First Amendment rights guaranteed to the public and the press. See RCW 4.105.901. The Act creates a special procedure to resolve cases that target "[c]ommunication in a legislative, executive, judicial, administrative, or other governmental proceeding." RCW 4.105.010(2)(a). It does this by allowing parties to bring a special motion for expedited relief "to dismiss the cause of action or part of the cause of action." RCW 4.105.020(2). There are exceptions to UPEPA, one of which is that the Act does not apply to a cause of action "against a person named in a civil suit brought by a victim of a crime against a perpetrator." RCW 4.105.010(3)(a)(iv).

Benshoof alleged three claims in his October 11, 2022 complaint: abuse of process, defamation, and coercion. Benshoof alleged Owen and Cliber were liable for abuse of process because they "illegally or improperly perverted the King County Family Court system against" Benshoof. Benshoof alleged Owen and Lerman made defamatory statements to either Seattle police officers or to Owen and Benshoof's child. Benshoof's coercion claim stemmed from Hermsen's demand that Benshoof pay Owen for the return of what Benshoof asserted was his FJ Cruiser. The respondents' filed their special motions for expedited relief to defend against Benshoof's abuse of process and defamation claims because the claims stemmed from either their participation in the parentage action or statements made to law enforcement. In contrast, Owen requested the trial court dismiss the coercion claim under CR 12(b)(6), arguing it was not a cognizable cause of action in Washington. In its oral ruling, the trial court agreed that UPEPA did not apply to the coercion claim, and instead dismissed the claim under CR 12(b)(6).

On appeal, Benshoof argues his coercion claim falls within the UPEPA crime victim exception. Because the trial court did not dismiss the coercion claim under UPEPA, it is irrelevant whether the claim meets an exception to the Act. Benshoof does not otherwise assign error to the dismissal of his coercion claim, and therefore establishes no entitlement to appellate relief.

Benshoof argues the trial court erred in dismissing his claims under UPEPA without allowing discovery and a stay of hearing the special motions for expedited relief pending such discovery. We disagree.

On the giving of notice of intent to file a special motion for expedited relief, or the filing of the motion, "[a]ll other proceedings between the moving party and responding party, including discovery and a pending hearing or motion, are stayed." RCW 4.105.030(1)(a). The stay remains in effect until entry of an order ruling on the motion. RCW 4.105.030(2). A trial court "may allow limited discovery if a party shows that specific information is necessary to establish whether a party has satisfied or failed to satisfy a burden under RCW 4.105.060(1) and the information is not reasonably available unless discovery is allowed." RCW 4.105.030(4). Use of the term "may" in RCW 4.105.060(1) means that the trial court has discretion whether to allow limited discovery under the statute. See In re Pers. Restraint of Dove. 196 Wn. App. 148, 155, 381 P.3d 1280 (2016) (use of term "may" in statute providing that the court may require a defendant to pay costs means that the trial court has discretion whether to impose costs). A trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Lindgren v. Lindgren, 58 Wn. App. 588, 595, 794 P.2d 526 (1990).

Benshoof filed a motion to compel discovery, a motion to stay Owen's and Cliber's special motions, and a motion to continue. However, Benshoof did not note any of these motions for consideration in accordance with KCLCR 7(b)(5), so

the trial court did not rule on them. Because Benshoof failed to note his motions, the trial court had no opportunity to exercise its discretion and made no rulings. Doyle v. Lee, 166 Wn. App. 397, 404, 272 P.3d 256 (2012). Therefore, these issues are not before us.

IV

Benshoof argues the trial court erred in allowing Lerman and Hermsen to join Owen's motion for expedited relief. However, Benshoof argues that joinder was improper for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a) generally does not allow parties to raise issues for the first time on appeal. We decline to address this issue.

V

Benshoof challenges the trial court's order finding him to be a vexatious litigant.

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that Congress shall make no law abridging the right of the people to "petition the Government for a redress of grievances." Under the Fourteenth Amendment, the First Amendment applies to the States. <u>Cantwell v. State of Connecticut</u>, 310 U.S. 296, 303, 60 S. Ct. 900, 84 L. Ed. 1213 (1940). The Petition Clause "protects the right of individuals to appeal to courts and other forums established by the government for resolution of legal disputes." <u>Borough of Duryea, Pa. v. Guarnieri</u>, 564 U.S. 379, 387, 131 S. Ct. 2488, 180 L. Ed. 2d 408 (2011). But when a petition "takes the form of a lawsuit," it may be "particularly disruptive," because "[m]ounting a defense to even frivolous claims" may consume a defendant's time and resources. <u>Id.</u> at 390. A lawsuit may be used "as a powerful instrument of

coercion or retaliation." <u>Bill Johnson's Rests., Inc. v. Nat'l Lab. Rels. Bd.</u>, 461 U.S. 731, 740, 103 S. Ct. 2161, 76 L. Ed. 2d 277 (1983). Lawsuits "based on insubstantial claims" that lack a " 'reasonable basis' " are "not within the scope of First Amendment protection." <u>Id.</u> at 743. Thus, a lawsuit amounting to a " 'mere sham' " receives no constitutional protection. <u>Id.</u> at 744 (quoting <u>Cal. Motor Transp. Co. v. Trucking Unlimited</u>, 404 U. S. 511, 92 S. Ct. 609, 30 L. Ed. 2d 641 (1972)).

Consistent with these principles, we have held that every court of justice in Washington has inherent power to control the conduct of litigants who impede the orderly conduct of proceedings. Yurtis v. Phipps, 143 Wn. App. 680, 693, 181 P.3d 849 (2008). "[T]rial courts have the authority to enjoin a party from engaging in litigation upon a 'specific and detailed showing of a pattern of abusive and frivolous litigation.' " Id. (quoting Whatcom County v. Kane, 31 Wn. App. 250, 253, 640 P.2d 1075 (1981)). "We review a trial court's order limiting a party's access to the court for an abuse of discretion." Bay v. Jensen, 147 Wn. App. 641, 657, 196 P.3d 753 (2008).

Because Benshoof does not assign error to the trial court's findings of fact, we accept them as true. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). The trial court found that after his first complaint against Owen was dismissed with prejudice, Benshoof filed two additional complaints against Owen in the United States District Court and the King County Superior Court, the second of which "was nothing short of a re-filing on the exact same claims previously dismissed." Benshoof then filed the lawsuit underlying this

appeal, and when Owen "sought to consolidate this matter with the other matter assigned to [the trial court], [Benshoof] filed an affidavit of prejudice. This was a concerted effort to circumvent the prior orders of the [s]uperior [c]ourt." The trial court found that

[t]his case marked the fifth civil complaint filed by [Benshoof] against [Owen] in a nine-month period. In this action, [Benshoof] cited to the above-mentioned, previously adjudicated matters, King County Superior Court Cause Nos. 21-5-00680-6-SEA and 21-2-11149-8-SEA, alleging, among other things, "Defendants Cliber and Owen illegally and improperly perverted the King County Family Court system against [Benshoof]."

[] When [Owen] and [Cliber] availed themselves of the protections found in Ch. 4.105 RCW, [Benshoof] responded by threatening to file yet more litigation against the same parties arising out of the same "facts".

The trial court concluded Benshoof "engaged in an extensive pattern of abusive litigation and weaponization of the court system against these defendants, their friends and family, and their attorneys. This pattern of abusive litigation has taken a significant emotional and financial burden on the defendants." We accept these findings as true and in any event they are amply supported by the record. They in turn support the conclusion that Benshoof's resort to the courts should be restrained. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in filing a vexatious litigant order against Benshoof.

VI

Benshoof argues the trial court's vexatious litigant order is overbroad and "so vague as to be incapable of compliance." We disagree.

Due process under both the state and federal constitutions requires that citizens have fair warning of proscribed conduct. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 752, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). In Washington, the test for vagueness is the "common intelligence" test. State v. Reader's Dig. Ass'n, 81 Wn.2d 259, 273, 501 P.2d 290 (1972). "An ordinance or statute is 'void for vagueness if it is framed in terms so vague that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application.' "City of Seattle v. Eze, 111 Wn.2d 22, 26, 759 P.2d 366 (1988) (quoting O'Day v. King County, 109 Wn.2d 796, 810, 749 P.2d 142 (1988)). "The purpose of the vagueness doctrine is to ensure that citizens receive fair notice as to what conduct is proscribed, and to prevent the law from being arbitrarily enforced." Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd., 117 Wn.2d 720, 739-40, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991).

The trial court ordered that Benshoof was enjoined from "initiating any litigation whatsoever in any Superior Court in the state of Washington against Defendants, their attorneys, their friends and family, or any other person related or connected to Defendants (collectively, 'Persons Covered by This Order') unless [Benshoof] first obtains advanced approval from this Court." Persons of common intelligence can understand the trial court's order to mean that Benshoof may not file suit without permission against defendants known to be—or based on their being—related or connected to the respondents. This limitation is clearly necessary in light of Benshoof's past abusive litigation tactics targeting the respondents' friends and family. The transparent and improper purpose of Benshoof's tactic is to attempt to control and isolate the respondents by using

litigation to deter others from being associated with or supporting them. Benshoof's argument that he is at risk of violating the order by inadvertently suing a person he cannot know to be related or connected to the respondents is a remote and fanciful risk, particularly given Benshoof's documented history of seeking out persons related or connected to the respondents to target in his baseless filings. And the order is narrowly tailored because it does not prohibit Benshoof from suing, but merely requires that he obtain advance permission to ensure that any new lawsuit is a legitimate one rather than merely another episode in his saga of revenge and abuse. The trial court's order is not overbroad or vague.

VII

Benshoof argues the trial court erred in entering judgments for attorney fees against Benshoof because "the Court should not have ruled on the UPEPA claims without first allowing discovery and a full hearing." We disagree.

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