FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/20/2025 1:04 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 1036370

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KURT BENSHOOF,

Petitioner,

V.

NATHAN CLIBER, JESSICA OWEN, MAGALIE LERMAN, OWEN HERMSEN,

Respondents.

Court of Appeals No. 850920 – Division I King County No. 22-2-15958-8

RESPONDENT NATHAN CLIBER'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER KURT BENSHOOF'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sarah N. Turner, WSBA No. 37748 Michael C. Tracy, WSBA No. 51226 701 5th Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 695-5100

Attorneys for Respondent Nathan Cliber

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

1. This case is not one of substantial public importance.

Benshoof's frivolous lawsuits and appeals affect only himself, as well as Respondents and the other parties who have had to incur significant costs appearing and responding to his baseless lawsuits. The dismissal of Benshoof's underlying lawsuit, the ORAL entered against him, and the attorneys' fees awarded against him are not of substantial public importance.

2. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Benshoof's claims clearly violate UPEPA, as they were brought against Respondents solely for their participation in prior judicial proceedings—especially so for Cliber, an attorney who represented Owen. They were dismissed pursuant to established Court of Appeals and Washington Supreme Court precedent. Likewise it is well-established by this Court and the Court of Appeals that trial courts have the authority to provide for the

orderly conduct of proceedings before them. There is no conflict of decision.

3. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion and the remaining orders do not pose any significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions.

The constitutionality of UPEPA and inherit power of every court of justice to control the conduct of litigants who impede the orderly conduct of proceedings are well-settled points of law. Further, the Court of Appeals has the authority to deny stay motions or award attorneys fees on appeal, especially those statutorily mandated fee awards like those found in UPEPA.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action is one of a litany of filings initiated by Benshoof arising from a family law dispute involving Benshoof and Owen, who were formerly in a dating relationship and share a child. Opening Brief of Appellant ("Benshoof Brief"), 1. Cliber is a family law attorney who represented Owen in a single legal proceeding, a parentage action involving Owen, Benshoof,

and their child, and has since found himself entangled in Benshoof's relentless abuse of the judicial system. CP 888, ¶ 4-5. At the time King County Superior Court Judge Ferguson entered the ORAL, Benshoof had filed six lawsuits against Owens and others, though that number has grown despite the Trial Court's ORAL against Benshoof.¹ CP 419-22, 888 ¶ 2.

Since then, Benshoof has sued nearly every attorney, judge, and otherwise involved person in his actions in state and/or federal court, including the undersigned counsel, Cliber's trial court counsel, Owen, Lerman and Hermsen's respective counsels, and both state court Judge Ferguson and federal court Judge Jamal Whitehead. All of Benshoof's litigation efforts arise

-

¹ Division I's unpublished opinion gives an excellent summation of the many vexatious and meritless lawsuits filed by Benshoof as of the date of its entry, as well as the procedural steps taken by the trial court. Amended Notice of Appeal, Ex. A, 1-6. Unfortunately, since that time, Benshoof's filings have only expanded, though Judge Whitehead recently entered an order in federal court declaring Benshoof a vexatious litigant on February 11, 2025. Western District of Washington Case No. 2:23-cv-1392, Dkt. 264.

out of largely the same set of "facts," and have been summarily rejected by the courts in which they were filed.

On October 3, 2022, three weeks before the final orders were entered in the parentage action involving Owen, Benshoof filed his Complaint for the underlying action to this appeal. CP 432-43. On December 12, 2022, Cliber and the other Respondents filed their Special Motions for Expedited Relief ("Special Motion") to dismiss Benshoof's claims under UPEPA. CP 877-87. Cliber argued, and the lower court agreed, that Benshoof's abuse of process claim against him was predicated upon communications that took place in judicial proceedings, and was therefore subject to dismissal under the UPEPA. *Compare id.* to CP 264-67.

As a result of the Special Motions and the notice Respondents provided Benshoof in advance of those Special Motions, discovery in the matter was stayed pursuant to the protections outlined in RCW 4.105. Benshoof sought to challenge the statutory stay in a Motion for Limited Discovery

that he filed but failed to notice in compliance with King County Local Rule 7. CP 106-112; Benshoof Brief, 14. Since he failed to comply with the local rules, the motion was not considered by the trial court. *Id.* On January 13, 2023, Benshoof attempted to amend his Complaint for a second time, also in violation of the UPEPA's stay provisions. CP 185-216. Benshoof later filed a Motion to Compel Limited Discovery, seeking the same relief, which he later filed on January 27, 2023, though the motion was mooted by the trial court's order on the Special Motions. CP 259-63, 264-67.

As a result of Benshoof's voluminous, frivolous filings, Judge Ferguson entered the ORAL against Benshoof after Respondents jointly moved for a vexatious litigant order against him. CP 1-15, 295-96. The ORAL provides that, for a period of five years, Benshoof is "ENJOINED AND RESTRAINED...from initiating any litigation whatsoever...in any Superior Court in the State of Washington Against Defendants, their attorneys, [and] their friends and family...,

unless Benshoof first obtains advanced approval from this Court." CP 295, 1168. The ORAL also provides that "[i]f Mr. Benshoof seeks to commence a new action against Persons Covered by This Order other than a Superior Court, [he] must first bring a motion in the other court for leave to proceed with the action...Mr. Benshoof shall submit a copy of this Order with any future lawsuit he files in any court, including any federal court." *Id.* Finally, the ORAL provides that "[i]f Mr. Benshoof fails to abide by the terms of this Order, any party may move...for a finding of contempt and sanctions." *Id.*

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Benshoof's Amended Notice of Appeal, which this Court is treating as a petition for review, fails to demonstrate, yet alone raise, the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Even if he had, neither the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion nor the remaining orders (1) involve substantial public importance, (2) are in conflict with any decision of this Court or published decision of

the Court of Appeals, or (3) involve significant questions of under Washington or United States Constitutions. RAP 13.4(b). Review is unwarranted.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected each and every one of Benshoof's arguments, affirming the dismissal of his claims under UPEPA, the corresponding stay, and the entry and propriety of the ORAL. It was likewise correct in awarding attorneys' fees and costs to Respondents, which are statutorily mandated under UPEPA. Finally, the Court of Appeals rightly denied Benshoof's various motions seeking stays and publication, RAP 17.2, and Benshoof failed to move modify those orders. *See* RAP 17.7.

First, this case is not one of substantial public importance. Benshoof's frivolous lawsuits and appeals affect only himself, as well as Respondents and the other parties who have had to incur significant costs appearing and responding to his baseless lawsuits. The dismissal of Benshoof's underlying lawsuit pursuant to UPEPA, the ORAL entered against him, and the

attorneys' fees awarded against him are not of substantial public importance. That the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in unpublished form, and rejected Benshoof's motion to publish, is further confirmation of this case's lack of public importance.

Second, the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals. Benshoof's claims clearly violate UPEPA, as they were brought against Respondents solely for their participation in prior judicial proceedings—especially so for Cliber, an attorney who represented Owen. RCW 4.105.010(2)(a) (UPEPA applies to a complaint or cause of action when it is asserted against a person based on the person's "[c]ommunication in a legislative, executive, judicial, administrative, or other governmental proceeding."). They were dismissed pursuant to statutory mandate, which has been confirmed via Washington precedent. See Jha v. Khan, 24 Wn. App.2d 377, 387, 520 P.3d 470 (2022). Likewise it is wellestablished by this Court and the Court of Appeals that trial courts have the authority to provide for the orderly conduct of proceedings before them. *See Yurtis v. Phipps*, 143 Wn. App. 680, 693, 181 P.3d 849 (2008), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1037, 197 P.3d 1186 (2008) ("In Washington, every court of justice has inherent power to control the conduct of litigants who impede the orderly conduct of proceedings."). There is no conflict of decision.

Third, the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion and the remaining orders do not pose any significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions. The constitutionality of UPEPA and inherit power of every court of justice to control the conduct of litigants who impede the orderly conduct of proceedings are well-settled points of law. *Jha*, 24 Wn. App.2d at 387; *Yurtis*, 143 Wn. App. At 693; *Borough of Duryea*, *Pa. v. Guarnieri*, 564 U.S. 379, 387, 131 S. Ct. 2488, 180 L. Ed. 2d 408 (2011). Likewise, is the Court of Appeals' ability to deny stay motions or award attorneys' fees on appeal, especially those statutorily mandated fee awards like those found

in UPEPA. RAP 17.2; Judges of the Benton & Franklin Counties Super. Ct. v. Killian, 195 Wn.2d 350, 363, 459 P.3d 1082 (2020) see RCW 4.105.090.

None of RAP 13.4(b)'s criteria are present here. Review is unwarranted.

V. CONCLUSION

Benshoof's Amended Notice of Appeal fails to satisfy 13.4(b), much less identify its requirements. This case is not one of substantial public importance; the Court of Appeal's unpublished opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals; and the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion and the remaining orders do not pose any significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions. This Court should deny review.

This document contains 1,874 words, excluding parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.